IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

PETITIONER,

v.

MICHAEL EUGENE AKINS,

RESPONDENT.

Case No. SC10-896 L.T. Nos: 2D09-161, CRC90-09582CFANO

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

PATRICIA A. MCCARTHY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0331163
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
(813)287-7900
Fax (813)281-5500

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Michael Akins was found guilty after a jury trial of sale of and possession of cocaine. (V 1 R 181) On January 18, 1991, he was adjudicated guilty of the offense in accordance with the verdict and sentenced as a habitual felony offender to 30 years prison. After service of 20 years, the remaining portion of Akins' sentence was suspended, with the suspended portion to be served on probation. (V 1 R 187) Akins' judgment was affirmed on direct appeal on November 1, 1991. Akins v. State, 591 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

Subsequent to Akins' release from prison in 2001 (V 1 R 198), he twice violated the terms of his probation, testing positive for cocaine. (V 1 R 197, 199) On the first, Akins sought, and was allowed to be on, continued probation at a hearing in September, 2003. (R V 2 203) Upon admitting the second violation (V 1 R 181), sentence was set for November 19, 2004. During the sentencing proceedings, his trial counsel referred to Akins' habitual sentence on his sale of cocaine and the suspended portion thereof. (V 1 R 198) In seeking mitigation, his counsel stated, among other things: ". . . I spoke to Mr. Migliore [prosecutor] and he's going to ask for the maximum, 10 years" (V 1 R 200) Attributing Akins' situation to addiction, his counsel sought Akins' termination from supervision. Alternatively, his counsel pointed to the probation officer's

recommendation of two years community control. (V 2 R 201)

The prosecutor directed the state court's attention to the transcript of the hearing held September 26, 2003, on the prior violation of probation and the colloquy between the court and Akins. (V 1 R 146-147) Maintaining Akins had made a deal with the court, the prosecutor asked the court to enforce it. (V 1 R 148)

Before sentencing Akins on the second violation, the trial court addressed his representations, and the court's admonishments, at the previous hearing thus:

THE COURT: You're familiar with the transcript of the last time that you were before the Court before you changed your plea?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do, sir.

THE COURT: We acknowledged that you had been sentenced to 30 years. We acknowledged that you did 20.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. And then I said, "You are 50 years old."

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And I said, "You are too old for that."

And you responded, "Yes, Sir."

THE DEFENDANT: True.

THE COURT: I said, "We are going to give you one last

chance."

You said, "Thank you, sir."

THE DEFENDANT: True.

THE COURT: I said, "Dabble in drugs and you are going to do the last 10." Do you remember that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You answered, "Thank you, sir."

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: I asked this question on page 10, line 14: "Do you have any doubt that I will not impose that 10 years for you?"

You answered, "No."

I said, "I mean, you come back here on another dirty urine or I find out that you're doing something else unlawful, then we just say good-bye." right?

THE DEFENDANT: True, sir.

THE COURT: And you said, I appreciate it."

(V 1 R 148-150)

Thereafter, Akins acknowledged he had been given fair warning. (V 1 R 150) Nonetheless, the trial court chose not to sentence him to the full balance of the suspended portion of his original sentence based on Akins' admission, as well as anticipated forfeiture of gain time extended Akins previously:

I am going to take into consideration the fact that you've entered a plea.

. . .

I'm also going to take into consideration that the Department of Corrections is probably going to take away some of the gain time that you might have got on that

additional -- the first 20 years. They're probably going to take some time away that you thought you had earned.

. . .

THE COURT: So what I'm going to do is I'm going to sentence you to five years. And I'm going to give you credit for the time that you've served on the charge of violation of probation

(V 1 R 151)

Ascertaining that Akins was arrested June 11, 2004, on the second violation, the trial court indicated Akins would receive credit on the five-year prison term for time he served in the county jail since his arrest on the first violation. (V 1 R 152-

53) The court in awarding jail credit to Akins, stated:

THE COURT: 239 days credit Now, the only reason I didn't give you the 10 is because I know that the State is going to take some time away from you on that 20 years that you've already served. That's the way they work. And I don't control the Department of Corrections, so I'm trying to give you some equity here. But I'm also letting you know that you've had your last chance the last time. So you -- in effect, of 10 years that you had, I've imposed five.

(V 1 R 153-154) Thereafter, the court indicated Akins was receiving credit for all time served on both probation violations. (V 2 R 210)

Akins filed a motion seeking additionnal jail credit. (V 1 R 47) On February 24, 2005, Akins' judgment was amended to reflect he was entitled to 270 days, instead of 239 days of credit for time served. (V 1 R 192)

Subsequently, by order rendered April 27, 2005, the circuit

court amended Akins' written judgment to reflect that he was sentenced as a habitual offender.1 (V 1 R 193) The written judgment was amended to reflect the following:

Mandatory/Minimum Provisions:

The defendant is adjudicated a habitual felony offender and is sentenced to an extended term in accordance with the provision of 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes. *amended 4/29/05 per court order dated 4/22/05.

(V 1 R 191)

Among his various collateral applications, Akins sought review of a nonappealable Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(c) order, and during the appeal, he attempted to raise a double jeopardy claim regarding the amendment of his sentence which reflected his probation revocation sentence was as a habitual felony offender. The district court dismissed the improper appeal without prejudice to Akins' right, if any, to raise this issue in a motion pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a). Akins v. State, 926 So. 2d 412, 413 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)

Akins through retained collateral counsel raised his ground in a motion to vacate, set aside or correct judgment and sen-

¹ Undersigned has ascertained that at a status hearing on April 22, 2005, it was brought to the circuit court's attention that the Department of Corrections had inquired if Akins was a habitual offender for purposes of the probation violation. The prosecutor indicated such inquiry was made to the clerk's office. Neither Akins nor his counsel were present at the hearing. The court indicated the sentence on the sale of cocaine was a habitual sentence.

tence on November 20, 2006. (V 1 R 117-133) An amended motion followed. (V 1 R 97, V 2 R 219) After securing a response from the state, the postconviction court held a non-evidentiary hearing October 5, 2007, at which Akins and his counsel were present. The postconviction indicated it would allow the state and Akins' retained counsel to present written arguments. (V 2 R 221-228) By order rendered October 30, 2007, Akins' rule 3.800(a) motion was denied. (V 1 R 184-185) In denying relief, the postconviction court held, in relevant part:

In his motion the Defendant alleges that it was illegal to retroactively sentence him as an HFO because there was no oral pronouncement or written judgment made at his violation of probation sentencing designating the Defendant as an HFO. In addition, the Defendant argues that his Due Process Rights were violated because he was not present at this critical stage.

In its response, the State contends in the particular circumstances of this case it is entirely possible to determine with certainty that this Court intended to impose an HFO sentence. The State argues that if the Court did not sentence the Defendant as an HFO on revocation of probation then the maximum sentence it could impose was no sentence because any sentence the Court imposed would have been in excess of the maximum guideline sentence of fifteen years.

During the Defendant's sentencing his counsel acknowledged to the Court that the Defendant qualified as an HFO and listed the Defendant's prior felony convictions. See Exhibit D: Sentencing Transcript, pp. 5 and 7. Moreover, the Court reviewed the Defendant's original HFO sentence and the transcript of the colloquy at the Defendant's prior violation of probation hearing and stated "[we] acknowledged that you had been sentenced to 30 years. We acknowledged that you did 20.... We acknowledged that there was 10 hanging

over your head." <u>See</u> Exhibit C: Sentencing Transcript, pp. 11-12. The Court took into consideration that the Department of Corrections would probably take away some of the Defendant's gain time, and sentenced him to five years in prison. <u>See</u> Exhibit C: Sentencing Transcript, pg. 14.

While the Court did not specifically announce that the Defendant's sentence was as an HFO, the fact that the Court acknowledged the Defendant's original HFO sentence and then sentenced him accordingly demonstrates the Court's intention to sentence the Defendant as an HFO.

. . . .

(V 1 R 185)

Akins appealed the denial. On collateral appeal, his counsel argued Akins' sentence was illegal and that the habitual felony designation was added in violation of double jeopardy principles and must be deleted. (V 1 R 93-112) On Nov. 7, 2008, the Second District per curiam affirmed without written decision in case no. 2D07-5760. (V 2 R 231) Akins v. State, 996 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008)[table]. Akins filed a motion for clarification, which was denied on December 9, 2008. (V 2 R 233) The mandate issued January 15, 2009. (V 2 R 235)

Akins raised his claim again in a <u>pro se</u> rule 3.800(a) motion dated December 11, 2008. (V 1 R 3-6) By order rendered December 30, 2008, the postconviction court denied the rule 3.800(a) motion. Noting it has previously denied the identical claim, the postconviction court held that his claim was barred by res judicata and the law of the case doctrine. (V 1 R 39-40)

Akins appealed, and on December 30, 2009, the district court reversed the rule 3.800(a) order. Akins v. State, --- So.3d ----, 2009 WL 5125174 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 30, 2009).

Recognizing that Akins has filed more than thirty appeals, the district court nonetheless concluded his argument is supported by Ashley v. State, 850 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 2003), and Evans v. State, 675 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), as well as by discussion in its opinion in Barron v. State, 827 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002), and by the outcome in White v. State, 892 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). Noting its disagreement with at least part of the analysis in Evans, the district court recognized Evans was approved by the supreme court in Ashley. Unable to distinguish these cases, the district court held Mr. Akins' sentence is illegal because the trial judge inadvertently failed to announce that the sentence imposed on violation of probation remained a habitual offender sentence. Akins, supra, 2009 WL 512517.

On January 14, 2010, the state filed a timely motion for rehearing, with attachments. (V 2 R 201-235) Included was the brief of Akins' collateral counsel and the record in the prior rule 3.800(a) appeal. (V 1 R 90-200, V 2 235) Akins responded. (V 2 R 236-241) On April 22, 2010, the district court denied rehearing without elaboration. (V 2 R 242) On May 19, 2010, the Second District granted the state's motion to stay mandate to

the extent the mandate was stayed and shall not issue until July 15, 2010, in order to give the parties an opportunity to address the matter of a stay in this Honorable Court. On May 10, 2010, the state filed a timely notice to invoke this Honorable Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On June 10, 2010, this Honorable Court granted the state's motion to stay the mandate pending disposition of the petition for review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Michael Akins' claim of an illegal sentence is barred by the law of the case doctrine and collateral estoppel. Through collateral counsel, he raised the same claim in a previous Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a) motion and argued such on appeal. The ensuing affirmance forecloses review of his decided claim.

To the extent these procedural bars are subject to the "manifest injustice" exception, the exception is inapplicable here. Under this Court's decision in State v. McBride, a manifest injustice does not occur because Akins' total prison time would not be reduced absent the correction to his judgment. Akins' sentence was not increased after it was imposed, and there was no double jeopardy violation such as found by this Court in Ash-ley v. State. Akins' offense of sale of cocaine was removed from the sentencing guidelines when he was sentenced as a habitual offender in 1991. No additional pronouncement of habitualization was required upon sentencing him for violating probation on the same offense.

Additionally, the trial court's oral statements in revoking Akins' probation sufficed to pronounce a habitual felony offender sentence. Not meeting an exception to the procedural bars, Akins is left with the outfall of his prior litigation on his claim in the postconviction and district courts, that is: his imprisonment on the suspended portion of his habitual felony

sentence which the trial court chose to impose upon the revocation of Akin's probation.

ARGUMENT

On review is Akins v. State, 2009 WL 5125174 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 30, 2009), in which the district court of appeal certified the following question of great public importance:

IF A DEFENDANT HAS BEEN DECLARED TO BE A HABITUAL OFFENDER BEFORE THE IMPOSITION OF HIS INITIAL SPLIT SENTENCE, WHEN THE DEFENDANT LATER VIOLATES PROBATION AND HAS HIS PROBATION REVOKED, DOES THE DEFENDANT LOSE HIS STATUS AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER IF THE TRIAL COURT DOES NOT REPEAT THIS STATUS AT THE SENTENCING HEARING ON VIOLATION OF PROBATION?

In certifying the question of great public importance, the district court reached the merits of Michael Akins' claim of an illegal sentence, brought in a successive Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a) motion. The district court held that Akins' sentence is illegal because the trial judge inadvertently failed to announce that the sentence imposed on violation of probation remained a habitual offender sentence. Akins v. State, 2009 WL 5125174 (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 30, 2009).

The applicable procedural bars of law of the case and collateral estoppel, however, foreclose the relief Akins seeks because he raised the identical claim in a prior rule 3.800(a) motion and garnered review of the adverse ruling thereon by the district court. As shown herein, he meets no exception to the bars.

The legal issue presented by the certified question is a

pure question of law, subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>See State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001) ("If the ruling consists of a pure question of law, the ruling is subject to <u>de novo</u> review."). Whether Respondent is barred from raising his claim again is subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>See State v. McBride</u>, 848 So. 2d 287, 289 (Fla. 2003)(reviewing <u>de novo</u> the question of whether defendant was procedurally barred from seeking rule 3.800(a) relief).

I. Background

In 1991, Michael Akins was designated a habitual felony offender and sentenced as such after he was found guilty by a jury of sale of cocaine. The sentence imposed on this second degree felony was a true split sentence of thirty years, suspended after twenty years, with ten years to be served on probation. See Poore v. State, 531 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1988) (describing a "true split sentence" as "consisting of a total period of confinement with a portion of the confinement period suspended and the defendant placed on probation for that suspended portion). Akins' habitual sentence was within the maximum penalty of thirty years imprisonment, 2 and was affirmed on direct appeal. Akins v. State, 591 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)[table].

Among his various collateral attacks, Akins sought review

² See § 775.084(4)(a)(2), § 893.13 (Fla. Stat. 1989).

of a nonappealable Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(c) order. While on appeal, he attempted to raise a double jeopardy claim regarding the amendment of his sentence which reflected his probation revocation sentence was as a habitual felony offender. The district court dismissed the improper appeal without prejudice to Akins' right, if any, to raise this issue in a motion pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a). Akins v. State, 926 So. 2d 412, 413 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

Availing himself of the opportunity to raise such in a Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a), Akins retained collateral counsel, who filed a rule 3.800(a) motion. The postconviction court addressed his claim, and on appeal, his collateral counsel briefed his claim with specific argument thereon. The district court affirmed per curiam without written decision. Akins v. State, 996 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008)[table].

In a subsequent <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> rule 3.800(a) motion, Akins again raised his claim. The postconviction court found the claim barred by <u>res</u> <u>judicata</u> and law of the case doctrines. On appeal, however, the district court reversed and certified the question before this Court.

II. APPLICABLE PROCEDURAL BARRIERS

Although the district court felt compelled to reach the merits of Akins' claim, he had litigated his ground in his prior rule 3.800(a) motion and secured a decision on appeal. Having

done so, Akins is barred by the law of the case doctrine from obtaining review again of his decided claim.

A. The law of the case doctrine bars review since the ground was decided on appeal.

"[T]he law of the case doctrine ... requires that 'questions of law actually decided on appeal must govern the case in the same court and the trial court, through all subsequent stages of the proceedings." State v. McBride, 848 So. 2d 287, 290 (Fla. 2003). Law-of-the-case principles do not apply unless the issues are decided on appeal. Id., citing Kelly v. State, 739 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) (holding that "[s]uccessive 3.800(a) motions re-addressing issues previously considered and rejected on the merits and reviewed on appeal are barred by the doctrine of law of the case").

Akins through collateral counsel appealed the rule 3.800(a) order on his illegal sentence claim in his prior postconviction appeal. His counsel argued the April, 2005, amendment to Akins' sentence violated double jeopardy. (V 1 R 92-112) In advancing his argument, Akins' counsel relied on this Court's decision in Ashley v. State, 850 So. 2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 2003), the Fourth District's decision in Evans v. State, 675 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), and the First District's decision in White v. State, 892 So. 2d 541, 542 (Fla. 1st 2005). The Second District affirmed on Akins' arguments and issued its mandate.

Nevertheless, the Second District, on review of Akins' successive rule 3.800(a) motion raising the same claim, found his arguments were supported by Evans and Ashley, and the outcome in White. Akins, supra, 2009 WL 5125174. As the state maintained below, the law of the case doctrine bars review of Akins' claim.

(V 1 R 82-83)

B. Collateral estoppel/issue preclusion bars review of the same claim in a successive rule 3.800(a) motion.

Additionally, as the state asserted in its motion for rehearing, Akins is collaterally stopped to relitigate his ground. (V 1 R 82-83) Under Florida law, collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, applies when "the identical issue has been litigated between the same parties or their privies." McBride, 848 So. 2d at 291, citing Gentile v. Bauder, 718 So. 2d 781, 783 (Fla. 1998). The particular matter must be fully litigated and determined in a contest that results in a final decision of a court of competent jurisdiction. Id., citing Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. B.J.M., 656 So. 2d 906, 910 (Fla. 1995); City of Oldsmar v. State, 790 So. 2d 1042, 1046 n. 4 (Fla. 2001).

Although collateral estoppel generally precludes relitigation of an issue in a subsequent but separate cause of action, its intent, which is to prevent parties from rearguing the same issues that have been decided between them, applies in the post-

conviction context. <u>McBride</u>, 848 So. 2d at 291. More specifically, collateral estoppel precludes a defendant from rearguing in a successive rule 3.800 motion the same issues argued in a prior motion. <u>Id</u>. This is precisely what Akins has improperly endeavoured to do in his current rule 3.800(a) motion. <u>See also</u>, <u>Marek v. State</u>, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1129, n.3 (Fla. 2009)(noting Supreme Court's decision in <u>Cone v. Bell</u>, ---U.S. ---, 129 S.Ct. 1769, 173 L.Ed.2d 701 (2009), has no impact on the Florida courts' policy of not allowing defendants to relitigate claims in state court that have been adjudicated previously on their merits).

C. Manifest injustice exception is inapplicable.

In Akins' latest rule 3.800(a) motion, he did not deny that he had raised his ground in a prior rule 3.800(a) motion. Instead, he faulted his counsel for failing to show how and when the "increase judgment" in "violation of double jeopardy" took place and claimed the trial court lacked authority to increase his sentence. (V 1 R 47)

In <u>McBride</u>, this Court held that collateral estoppel will not be invoked to bar relief where its application would result in a manifest injustice. <u>McBride</u>, 848 So. 2d at 292. In <u>McBride</u>, the defendant maintained that under the applicable version of the habitual offender statute, he should not have been habitualized for the offense of attempted first-degree murder.

<u>Id.</u>, 848 So. 2d at 288. However, he had been properly habitualized on two other counts, and was serving concurrent habitual offender sentences of the same length. <u>Id.</u> at 292. On those facts, this Honorable Court held that the manifest injustice exception was not satisfied and affirmed the denial of relief.

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