IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL E. AKINS,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC10-896 LT# 2D09-161; CRC-90-09582-CFANO

ON PETITION FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

TERRY P. ROBERTS, ESQ.
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0526479
LAW OFFICE OF TERRY P. ROBERTS
COURT-APPOINTED COUNSEL
P.O. BOX 12366
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32308
(850) 590-8168
(888) 648-3864 (FAX)
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should either find that jurisdiction was improvidently granted or approve the Second District's decision.

First, jurisdiction was improvidently granted. The Second District's decision merely followed Evans and Ashley and applied long-standing law that a habitual felony offender ("HFO") designation cannot be applied by amending a defendant's judgment where the court failed to orally impose an HFO sentence and the defendant has already begun to serve his non-HFO sentence. Thus, there is no question of great public importance to be answered.

This Court should also refuse to entertain Petitioner's argument that Respondent's motion was procedurally barred. The Second District denied Petitioner's motion making this same argument below. The "procedural bar" argument was not part of the certified question; thus, this Court lacks jurisdiction to decide the case on that basis. Regardless, most of the jurisdictional bars discussed by Petitioner could not apply to a Rule 3.800(a) motion and the doctrine of collateral estoppel cannot apply where it would result in a manifest injustice. As the Second District already found that Respondent's sentence was "illegal," quashing the decision would result in the manifest injustice of allowing an illegal sentence to stand in violation of double jeopardy.

In regard to the merits, this case involves only routine application of <u>Ashley</u> and <u>Evans</u>. Both the trial court and the Second District found that, possibly through oversight, the trial court neglected to sentence Respondent as an HFO when it

revoked his prior suspended sentence and sentenced him to five years in prison for violation of probation. There was no ambiguity or slip of the tongue involved in the oral pronouncement. The attempt to amend or clarify the sentence five months after the fact by adding an HFO designation to Respondent's punishment violates the "multiple punishments" aspect of double jeopardy.

Petitioner's argument that United States Supreme Court precedent holds that the prohibition against multiple punishments applies only to capital sentencing is patently incorrect. The cited case held only that a non-capital sentencing hearing did not constitute a "prosecution" for an "offense" so that, where an enhanced sentence was reversed for insufficient evidence, double jeopardy did not bar a state from attempting to prove, on remand, that the defendant still qualified for sentence enhancement. The bar against second prosecutions has nothing to do with the prohibition against multiple punishments. Neither Respondent's argument nor the Second District's opinion relied on the theory that amending Respondent's judgment constituted a "second prosecution."

Finally, the Second District's misgivings about its opinion were unfounded. An HFO designation is, without doubt, a part of the "sentence" and cannot be imposed after the sentencing hearing is over. The rule in Ashley is simple to understand and easy to apply. The rule was violated in the instant case. The Second District's decision should be approved.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER JURISDICTION WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED (Restated)

This Court should determine that jurisdiction was improvidently granted because the district court's decision does not give rise to a matter of great public importance. The facts are simple: Respondent was initially sentenced as a habitual felony offender ("HFO") to a true split sentence of 20 years of incarceration and 10 years of probation. After serving the incarcerative portion of the sentence, he violated his probation. The trial court revoked his probation and sentenced him to 5 years in prison. The trial court, perhaps inadvertently, failed to orally sentence Respondent as an HFO and, five months later, amended the judgment to add an HFO designation to the five year sentence. The question of whether a trial court is obligated to orally reimpose an HFO designation following the revocation of probation and imposition of a new sentence is not a new question, nor is it one that has led to a split in Florida's district courts. The question has been decided. Also, the question of whether a court violates double jeopardy when it mistakenly fails to impose an HFO sentence and then, after a defendant begins serving the HFO sentence, amends the sentence to add an HFO designation is not new. question has been answered in the affirmative by Florida's

¹ The Respondent declines to answer Issue I, "Background," as the "Background" section does not appear to present a legal issue and the Respondent cannot tell the difference between a "background" section and the required statement of case and facts.

The sole reason that the Second District certified the courts. question was that it had difficulty understanding that an HFO designation is part of a criminal sentence as opposed to part of the conviction or some hybrid of both. The Second District had difficulty seeing how this Court's decision in Ashley v. State, 850 So.2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 2003) did not conflict with Mann v. State, 851 So.2d 901 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). As explained more fully in the merits portion (Issue III) of this brief, the Mann case is easily distinguished from both Ashley and the instant case, as Ashley governs cases where a trial court fails to orally impose an HFO sentence and Mann merely held that orally imposing a "habitual offender" sentence, where the record showed that a "habitual violent felony offender" sentence was agreed to by the parties at the hearing, was sufficient to find that the habitual violent felony offender sentence was orally pronounced and that no "magic words" were required to impose the sentence. As the pending petition presents no legal question of import or first impression, Respondent urges this Court to discharge the petition by concluding that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

II. WHETHER THIS COURT MAY DECIDE THE CASE ON THE GROUND THAT RESPONDENT'S MOTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AS SUCCESSIVE (Restated)

This Court should decline to analyze the Petitioner's claim regarding a procedural bar. First, this Court lacks jurisdiction to analyze that issue. Second, the Petitioner's argument is incorrect on the merits.

In regard to jurisdiction, this Court accepted jurisdiction based on a question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal as a question of great public importance. In both the opinion and the certified question, the Second District only discussed the merits of Respondent's claim of an illegal sentence and violation of double jeopardy. The issue of procedural bars, while raised in the circuit court's opinion and Petitioner's motion for rehearing in the Second District, was not mentioned anywhere in the opinion or the certified question. This Court is Florida's highest, but it is a court of limited jurisdiction. For most purposes, a direct criminal appeal to a district court in a non-capital case is meant to end that matter. Petitioner raised this issue below in its motion for rehearing. (V1-81-89). The district court considered and then denied the motion. (V2-242). While the Petitioner feels that the issue of a procedural bar is important, the district court denied that argument without certifying a question based on that argument.

This Court does not have jurisdiction to review cases that a party deems to present an issue of great public importance. This Court may only review questions of great public importance that are certified by a district court of appeal. Art. V, \S 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston, 655 So. 2d 91, 93, ft. 1 (Fla. 1995)(emphasis supplied); Revitz v. Baya, 355 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1977); Duggan v. Tomlinson, 174 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1965).

The Petitioner cites State v. McBride, 848 So.2d 287 (Fla. 2003) in support of its argument, but, in that case, the certified question specifically referenced the issue of whether a successive rule 3.800(a) motion could be entertained. McBride, 848 So.2d at 288. In the instant case, the Second District did not certify any question regarding a procedural bar. Thus, this Court has no jurisdiction to decide the case on such grounds. This Court must either decide the case on the merits of the certified question or decide that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Also, the State's argument is incorrect on the merits. The appeal was not procedurally barred. The State is correct in noting that the Petitioner raised this argument in a previous motion to correct illegal sentence and that the Second District affirmed it on appeal. An "illegal sentence, however, may be corrected at any time [and] may be corrected even after it has been erroneously affirmed." <u>Bedford v. State</u>, 633 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1994).

In <u>Crotts v. State</u>, in response to the State's argument that Crotts was procedurally barred from bringing a successive challenge to his HFO status because he had "previously raised the same issue and had it decided against him," the Second

District held that the substantive aspects of the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution "requires that a patently illegal sentence be corrected despite the law-of-the-case doctrine." Crotts v. State, 795 So.2d 1020, 1021 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)(citing Lawton v. State, 731 So.2d 60 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). As the Second District below found the sentence to be "illegal," the exception to the procedural bar applies. Alternatively, even if the matter could be deemed procedurally barred, Respondent would qualify for the "manifest injustice" exception to res judicata, law of the case, and collateral estoppel noted in McBride, 848 So.2d at 291-92 because the Second District found that his sentence was indeed illegal in violation of double jeopardy. In McBride, there was no manifest injustice in declining to review the successive motion because McBride was serving concurrent sentences, meaning that granting him relief on the illegal sentence would not result in any benefit to McBride. See McBride, 848 So.2d at 292; see also Swain v. State, 911 So.2d 140, 144 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005) (noting that res judicata and law of the case shall not be applied where it would defeat the ends of justice)(citations omitted). In the instant case, Respondent's illegal sentence is the only sentence he is serving. His HFO designation makes him ineligible for gain time. See generally Vann v. State, 970 So.2d 878, 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007); Horton v. State, 682 So.2d 647, 648 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)(finding manifest injustice related to HFO bar on gain time).

Regardless, the circuit court did not entertain the issue of collateral estoppel. Rather, the court incorrectly applied the doctrines of res judicata and law of the case, which would have required reversal on that basis alone. See Renfro v. State, 944 So.2d 1246 (Fla. 5th DCA)(reversing and remanding for consideration of collateral estoppel). Thus, this Court should not decide this case on the ground that it is procedurally barred.

III. WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT VIOLATED DOUBLE JEOPARDY IN ADDING AN HFO DESIGNATION TO RESPONDENT'S SENTENCE MONTHS AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE SENTENCING HEARING (Restated)

Alternatively, if this Court does decide this case on the merits, this Court should not quash the Second District's decision because the decision was correct. Under this Court's clear precedent, the trial court's attempt to amend the judgment five months after the sentencing hearing by adding an HFO designation to the sentence was patently illegal and violative of the double jeopardy clause. Determining whether double jeopardy is violated based on undisputed facts is a purely legal determination, so the standard of review is de novo. State v. Florida, 894 So.2d 941, 945 (Fla. 2005).

The most important case relevant to this issue is <u>Ashley v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 850 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 2003). That case recognized that once

a sentence has been imposed and the person begins to serve the sentence, the sentence may not be increased without running afoul of double jeopardy principles.... To do so is a clear violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause, which prohibits multiple punishment for the same offense.

<u>Ashley</u>, 850 So.2d at 1267. Even prior to <u>Ashley</u>, Florida law was clear that a

court's pronouncement of a sentence becomes final when the sentencing hearing ends. Comtois v. State, 891 So.2d 1130, 1131 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); Troupe v. Rowe, 283 So.2d 857, 858 (Fla. 1973). "Once a sentence has been imposed and the person begins to serve the sentence, that sentence may not be increased without running afoul of double jeopardy principles." Ashley v. State, 850 So.2d 1265, 1267 (Fla. 2003).

Migdal v. State, 970 So.2d 445, 448 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)(reversing trial court's attempt to "correct" judgment where Migdal was sentenced to five years on second degree felony and 15 years on third degree felony by switching the sentences);

Evans v. State, 675 So.2d 1012, 1014 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)(once sentence is imposed, jeopardy attaches, and a defendant cannot be resentenced to a greater term of imprisonment).

The main question below was whether imposition of a habitual felony offender ("HFO") designation after the conclusion of a sentencing hearing violates double jeopardy. While the easy answer is "yes," the complicating factor in this case was that, in 1991, when Respondent was originally sentenced, the HFO designation was imposed. Thus, the question was whether, when that sentence was revoked due to a violation of probation and the trial court imposed a new five year sentence, the original HFO designation carried over to the new sentence, surviving the revocation despite the trial court's failure to orally reimpose it when imposing the new sentence. The answer to this more complicated question is that the HFO designation does not impliedly carry over from a prior sentence because it is entirely within a trial court's discretion whether to reimpose or decline to reimpose an HFO sentence when revoking probation and imposing a new sentence. All portions of the sentence, HFO designations included, must be orally imposed at the sentencing hearing and they cannot be belatedly added to the sentence after the sentencing hearing is complete without violating double jeopardy.

As the Second District below recognized, Evans is almost identical to the instant case. In Evans, Evans entered into a written plea agreement for aggravated battery and possession of cocaine. Evans, 675 So.2d at 1013. The parties negotiated Evans' plea to three years of probation and the written plea specified that if Evans violated his probation, he agreed that he qualified as an HFO and that he would be sentenced as an HFO. The trial court accepted the plea, imposed a special condition that Evans complete a drug abuse program, and pronounced Evans to be an HFO. Id. Evans failed to complete the drug program and, in response, the trial court sentenced him to consecutive 30 and 10 year sentences as an HFO, but then suspended the sentences and placed Evans on probation for five years with a renewed special condition to complete a drug abuse program. Evans again failed to complete the drug program and the trial court, in response, revoked his probation and sentenced him to consecutive 15 and 5 year sentences with credit for all time served. Id. It is important to note that the two sentences were the statutory maximum sentences and that the overall sentence of 20 years fell within the permitted sentencing range of 12 to 27 years. Id. In other words, Evans

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